RECEIVED

Mar 20 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Master-In-Equity

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr. Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000897
Civil Action Case Nos.: 2019-CP-23-05954 & 2020-CP-23-04351

Crescent Homes SC, LLC,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

CJN, LLC,

Respondent/Defendant.

FINAL INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

By: *s/Ellis R. Lesemann*

Ellis R. Lesemann (S.C. Bar No. 15315)

erl@lalawsc.com

Benjamin H. Joyce (S.C. Bar No. 100949)

bhj@lalawsc.com

LESEMANN & ASSOCIATES LLC

418 King Street, Suite 301

Charleston, SC 29403

(843) 724-5155

March 20, 2023

Charleston, South Carolina

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE MASTER ERR IN FINDING A JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY EXISTED RELATING TO THE ENFORCEABILITY OF THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL WHERE THERE WAS NO PENDING SALE OR OFFER OF SALE?
- II. DID THE MASTER IMPROPERLY REFUSE TO CONSIDER AND ACCEPT EVIDENCE AS TO THE CONDUCT AND INTENT OF THE PARTIES REGARDING THE FIRST OF FIRST REFUSAL?
- III. DID THE MASTER ERR IN FINDING THAT THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL CREATED AN UNREASONABLE RESTRAINT ON ALIENATION WHERE THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT THE RESTRAINT WAS IMPOSED FOR A LEGITIMATE PURPOSE, THE INTENDED DURATION WAS REASONABLE, AND THE METHOD OF DETERMINING PRICE WAS REASONABLE?
- IV. DID THE MASTER ERR IN DECLINING TO REFORM THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal pertains to the enforceability of a Right of First Refusal (“ROFR”) granted by CJN, LLC (“CJN” or “Respondent”) to Crescent Homes SC, LLC (“Crescent” or “Appellant”) (collectively referred to as the “Parties”), a question that the Master-in-Equity determined notwithstanding the absence of any pending offer or contract on the subject property. The ROFR is set forth in the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Developed Lots (“Agreement”) executed by the Parties, both of which are sophisticated commercial entities with extensive real estate experience. The Agreement provides that CJN was to develop and sell to Crescent lots in “Phase 1” of a subdivision development called “River Springs,” and that at the Initial Closing of Phase 1, CJN would then grant Crescent a ROFR as to “Phase 2,” which is neighboring land that the Parties intended would comprise the remaining lots of the subdivision.

The Parties generally do not dispute the fact that Crescent has a valid ROFR on the *lots* in Phase 2. However, at the trial of this case, CJN argued that the ROFR does not apply to the raw, undeveloped acreage of Phase 2, even though it is the same property that the Parties mutually intended would be divided into lots at a second phase. The record demonstrates that CJN notified Crescent on two separate occasions of offers received by CJN from third parties to purchase the raw, undeveloped land encompassing Phase 2, explicitly granting Crescent the opportunity to exercise the very ROFR that CJN denies exists (as to the “raw” land).

After CJN filed the underlying declaratory judgment action requesting that the Master-in-Equity invalidate the ROFR, a one (1) day trial was held on the limited issue of the enforceability of the ROFR. The Master-in-Equity thereafter found a justiciable controversy existed between the Parties despite there being no pending sale or offer to purchase the land encompassing Phase 2 and found the ROFR was unenforceable as an unreasonable restraint on alienation of interest in land.

The Master-in-Equity then declined to reform the ROFR to comport with the intent of the Parties. This appeal follows.

On October 8, 2018, CJN and Crescent entered into an Agreement for 32 single-family lots located on Standing Springs Road, Greenville County within a subdivision known as River Springs Subdivision (“River Springs Subdivision”), which included the ROFR as to the future phase. Under the Agreement, CJN was to develop and sell to Crescent these 32 lots as part of “Phase 1” (“Phase 1 lots”) of the development of the River Springs Subdivision. Crescent would then build single-family homes on these lots and sell them to homebuyers. (R. p. 509.) In addition to Phase 1, the Agreement references a potential “Future Phase” or “Phase 2” of additional lots on property owned by CJN (“Phase 2 Property”) that was adjacent to the Phase 1 lots. (R. p. 510; R. pp. 514 – 539.) The ROFR was an intended part of a contract that was relied upon by Crescent and performed by Crescent.

The Agreement contained a provision granting Crescent a ROFR on the Phase 2 Property using the following language:

19. Right of First Refusal: At the Initial Closing, Seller will grant to Purchaser a right of first refusal with respect to the lots cross-hatched and shown on **Exhibit “A-2”** as “Future Phase” and any additional lots that may from time to time may be annexed or otherwise included in the Subdivision. A memorandum of such right of first refusal in a form reasonable acceptable to the Parties will be recorded in the public records of Greenville County at the Initial Closing.

(R. p. 529.) The timing of the granting of the ROFR to Crescent was based on the occurrence of the Initial Closing for the Phase 1 lots. The occurrence of the Initial Closing was delayed due to numerous breach and defaults of the Agreement on the part of CJN, which Crescent detailed in a notice dated September 5, 2019. (R. pp. 514 – 539; R. pp. 597 – 610; R. pp. 612 – 614.) On October 11, 2019, Crescent filed a Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County, Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-5954 against CJN for breach of contract, asserting that CJN was

responsible for a delay in the Initial Closing. (R. pp. 21 – 31.) Crescent also sought specific performance of the Agreement and stated that CJN failed to ensure that construction access was available to the Phase 1 lots and failed to maintain the lots free from trash and debris. (R. pp. 21 – 31.)

CJN slowly resolved its defaults in a manner that finally allowed for certain lots in the Initial Phase to be closed, and the first takedown of lots as part of the Initial Closing occurred on or about August 11, 2020. Despite the terms of the Agreement relating to the ROFR, a separate memorandum of the ROFR was never recorded on or around the time of the Initial Closing despite Crescent’s good-faith attempts to encourage CJN to commit the details of the ROFR to writing. (R. pp. 624– 633.) Eventually, CJN completely refused to discuss the terms of the memorandum with Crescent, thereby refusing to act in good faith or deal fairly with Crescent as to the ROFR that CJN kept trying to circumvent.

Prior to the Initial Closing, on June 26, 2020, Douglas F. Clark (“Mr. Clark”), an individual who owned property neighboring the River Springs Subdivision, offered to purchase the Phase 2 Property from CJN for \$775,000. (R. pp. 540 – 552.) CJN entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Mr. Clark. (R. pp. 540 – 552.) CJN included a contingency provision in Mr. Clark’s contract acknowledging Crescent’s ROFR:

1.5 Contingencies. The obligations of the Seller to sell the Property is contingent upon Crescent Homes SC, LLC, A Delaware limited liability company, terminating any and all rights of first refusal for the Property pursuant to that Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Lots and Development with an effective date of October 8, 2018, and any amendments thereto (collectively, the “LPA”).

(R. p. 541.) CJN’s intent to be bound by the ROFR is clear. The Initial Phase and Phase 2, or the “Future Phase,” are related, as they were mutually intended to be successive phases of a single development. The relatedness of the Initial Phase and Phase 2 is evident from the use of language

in the Agreement denoting a First Phase and a “Future Phase.” (R. p. 529.) However, Mr. Clark withdrew this offer and, based on the evidence in the record, expressed no further interest in the property.

Furthermore, although CJN maintained at trial it was not required to provide Crescent the opportunity to exercise the ROFR as to the raw, undivided land of the Phase 2 Property, CJN provided a copy of Mr. Clark’s offer to Crescent, inquiring if Crescent wanted to exercise the ROFR on the Phase 2 Property on the terms of Mr. Clark’s offer. (R. p. 348, lines 10 – 17.)

With the closing of the Phase 2 Property days away, Crescent sought to protect its ROFR rights as set forth in the Agreement by filing a lis pendens on the Phase 2 Property. (R. p. 292.) It was Crescent’s position that because the Initial Closing had not yet occurred, the ROFR rights had not been triggered and were not capable of being validly exercised. (R. pp. 620 – 623.) As noted above, Mr. Clark withdrew his offer to purchase the Phase 2 Property shortly thereafter, which caused the issue to lack justiciability.

On September 18, 2020, CJN filed a separate lawsuit on in the Greenville Court of Common Pleas, Civil Action No. 2020-CP-23-04351, asserting claims for declaratory judgment, abuse of legal process, tortious interference with contractual relationship, and unfair and deceptive trade practices against Crescent. (R. pp. 132 – 142.) CJN alleged that the ROFR held by Crescent was invalid and that the lis pendens filed by Crescent was done for the ulterior purpose of preventing the sale of the property to third parties. (R. pp. 132 – 190.)

Approximately six months later, on March 19, 2021, CJN filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment alleging that the ROFR held by Crescent was invalid because it constituted an unreasonable restraint on alienation and contained no time limitation in violation of the South Carolina Rule Against Perpetuities. (R. pp. 293 – 294.) In an Order dated April 20, 2021, the Court

denied CJN's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the grounds that there are apparent factual disputes and novel issues that required further factual inquiry to clarify the application of the law. (R. pp. 3 – 5.)

Less than thirty (30) days after unsuccessfully moving for partial summary judgment to invalidate and void the ROFR, CJN coincidentally received a purported offer to purchase the Phase 2 Property from Opus Petrus, LLC ("Opus Petrus"), an entity owned by an individual with whom the principal of CJN has a close personal relationship. (R. p. 355, lines 10-21; R. p. 488, line 22 – p. 489, line 11; R. pp. 560 – 570.) The purchase price included in the Opus Petrus offer was \$1,250,000, which was \$475,000 more (62% more) than the previous offer from Mr. Clark that was tendered by CJN to Crescent less than one (1) year prior.

Despite claiming the ROFR was unenforceable and void, CJN tendered the Opus Petrus offer to Crescent on May 18, 2021, inquiring if Crescent wanted to exercise the ROFR set forth in the Agreement. (R. pp. 560 – 570.) For numerous reasons, Crescent determined that the Opus Petrus offer was an illegitimate offer manufactured in an attempt to circumvent the ROFR and extract an unreasonable purchase price from Crescent. (R. pp. 571 – 590.) The terms of the Opus Petrus offer were not commercially reasonable or consistent with the market, whether in terms of the purchase price, the amount of earnest money, the provision for seller financing, the financing terms and maturity date, and the omission of standard contingencies, among other things. (R. p. 447, lines 1-25.) Further, no due diligence was conducted by Opus Petrus in advance of its offer to purchase the property, nor were any efforts undertaken to resolve the contingency that was set forth in the Opus Petrus offer relating to septic permits. (R. p. 449, line 19 – p. 452, line 1.) As such, Crescent notified CJN that the offer was not *bona fide* and did not affect the ROFR. (R. p.

453, line 19 – p. 454, line 1.) Opus Petrus subsequently withdrew its offer to purchase the Phase 2 Property. (R. pp. 594 – 596.)

CJN then amended its Complaint on October 21, 2021, restating its assertion that the ROFR was invalid and unenforceable and alleging that Crescent’s rights under the ROFR were extinguished by Crescent’s failure to make an offer better or equal to the offer for purchase submitted by Opus Petrus. (R. pp. 192 – 206.)

On August 11, 2021, Crescent filed a Motion to Consolidate and Merge Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-5954 and Civil Action No. 2020-CP-23-4351 for the purposes of all remaining discovery and trial. By an Order filed October 22, 2021, the Master-in-Equity (the “Master”) consolidated the two cases and held that the ROFR issue raised in Civil Action No. 2020-CP-23-4351 should be bifurcated for trial. (R. pp. 6 – 8.)

On May 4, 2022, the Master presided over the bifurcated portion of the consolidated cases, trying only CJN’s claim that it was entitled to a declaration that the ROFR is void and unenforceable. Crescent raised the issues of ripeness and justiciability, but the Master-in-Equity proceeded to hear and resolve the issue. In an Order dated May 27, 2022 (the “Order”), the Master ruled that the ROFR was invalid and enforceable and declined to reform the ROFR, stating: “However, based on the language used in paragraph 19, the Court is unable to interpret and/or give meaning to the parties’ agreement without substantially and significantly creating terms and conditions that the parties themselves could have and should have included.” (R. p. 16.)

On June 6, 2022, Crescent filed a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, requesting that the First Order be withdrawn. (R. pp. 295 – 300.) Additionally, Crescent requested that the Master issue a new order that resolve the issues presented and correct each of the factual errors, legal errors, and other defects. In an Order dated June 10, 2022, the Master

denied Crescent’s Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. pp. 19 – 20.) On June 29, 2022, Crescent filed a Notice of Appeal of the Master’s First Order and Second Order as these Orders are a final ruling on a claim for declaratory judgment and, therefore, immediately appealable.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review that applies to this appeal is one for an action at law. “When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal.” *Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc.*, 338 S.C. 572, 580, 527 S.E.2d 371, 375 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Corley v. Ott*, 326 S.C. 89, 92, n. 1, 485 S.E.2d 97, 99, n. 1 (1997)). “Declaratory judgment actions are neither legal nor equitable and, therefore, the standard of review depends on the nature of the underlying issues.” *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). “Pursuant to the ‘main purpose rule,’ in actions praying for both money damages and equitable relief, ‘characterization of the action as equitable or legal depends on the plaintiff’s ‘main purpose’ in bringing the action.’” *Floyd v. Floyd*, 306 S.C. 376, 380, 412 S.E.2d 397, 399 (1991).

Furthermore, an action to construe a contract is an action at law. *See Duncan v. Little*, 384 S.C. 420, 682 S.E.2d 788 (2009). In its Amended Complaint, CJN sought a declaration from the trial court that relating to the rights and interests of the Parties to the Agreement, including the Right of First Refusal contained in Paragraph 19. By issuing the Order finding that the ROFR was void and unenforceable, the Master was interpreting a contract, and therefore, resolving a question of law. *See Stecker v. TALX Corp.*, 384 S.C. 224, 681 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2009) (holding that a declaratory judgment action for construction of a contract is a legal action.); *see also Silver v. Abstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 658 S.E.2d 539 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding that the interpretation of a contract is a question of law).

As to findings of law made by a master-in-equity, the appellate court applies a *de novo* standard of review. *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Plan. Comm'n*, 426 S.C. 97, 825 S.E.2d 721 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803 (Ct. App. 2009)). “Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 654, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008)). In contrast, the appropriate standard of review for a master-in-equity’s findings of fact is more deferential, as the appellate court “reviews factual findings only for evidence which reasonably supports the court’s findings.” *Eldridge v. City of Greenwood*, 331 S.C. 398, 416, 503 S.E.2d 191, 200 (Ct. App. 1998).

ARGUMENT

As an initial matter, this Court should reverse the Master’s Order on the basis that the issue of enforceability is not ripe for review in the absence of a bona fide offer to trigger the ROFR. CJN asked to invalidate the ROFR even though there was no pending offer to purchase the Phase 2 Property. For this reason, there was no justiciable controversy as to the ROFR under South Carolina law. Both prior offers were terminated and withdrawn by the offerors. The Master nevertheless issued a ruling on the enforceability despite the lack of a justiciable controversy that was ripe or appropriate for judicial determination.

To the extent the Court finds that there is a justiciable controversy, the Court should reverse the Master’s findings that the ROFR is unenforceable. As needed, the Court should reform the language of the ROFR based on the evidence in the record, or apply the rule of reasonableness as to missing time frames or applicable deadlines. The Master should have given weight to the evidence and the testimony from both parties that provided the basis for supplying the reasonable

time frames in which the ROFR had to be exercised. Crescent and CJN entered into the ROFR with the mutual understanding that it was valid and binding. The Parties are sophisticated commercial entities with extensive experience in real estate transactions and contracts and were represented by counsel. The Parties understood that they would continue to work towards finalizing the specific terms relating to price and duration after the occurrence of the Initial Closing. (R. p. 428, line 20 – p. 429, line 6; R. p. 439, line 19 – p. 440, line 5.) For these reasons, the ROFR is not an unreasonable restraint on alienation where the parameters for exercising the right were agreed to and understood by the Parties.

I. THE MASTER ERRED IN RULING ON THE ENFORCEABILITY OF THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL WHERE THERE WAS NO PENDING SALE OR OFFER OF SALE ON THE PHASE 2 PROPERTY.

The Master erred in ruling that the ROFR set forth in Paragraph 19 of the Agreement was unenforceable because the issue of enforceability is not ripe and appropriate for judicial determination in the absence of a real and substantial controversy. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that a “threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, i.e., whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy.” *See Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n of S.C. v. Res. Plan. Corp.*, 358 S.C. 460, 477, 596 S.E.2d 51, 60 (2004). Under South Carolina law, “[a] declaratory judgment action must involve an actual, justiciable controversy.” *S. Bank & Tr. Co. v. Harrison Sales Co.*, 285 S.C. 50, 51, 328 S.E.2d 66, 67 (1985) (citing *Blue Ridge Electric Cooperative v. Combined Utility System*, 279 S.C. 135, 303 S.E.2d 91 (1983)). “A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical or abstract dispute.” *Pee Dee Elec. Coop. Inc., v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983).

The Master improperly relied upon prior contracts with Mr. Clark and Opus Petrus in reaching his conclusion that a justiciable controversy exists. (R. p. 14.) However, the evidence in the record demonstrates that these two (2) purported offers received by CJN for the Phase 2 Property do not create a justiciable controversy. At the time Mr. Clark allegedly proposed to purchase the Phase 2 Property on or around June 26, 2020, the Initial Closing on the Phase 1 lots had not yet occurred. (R. p. 385, line 24 – p. 386, line 2.) Because Paragraph 19 of the Agreement provides that CJN would grant to Crescent the ROFR “at the Initial Closing,” Crescent did not yet have the power to exercise the ROFR because it had not received the power to exercise the ROFR by the terms of the Agreement, nor did CJN have the right to circumvent the right it had granted. (R. pp. 620– 623.) The Clark offer was later withdrawn, and therefore, was not a pending offer.

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