RECEIVED

Mar 20 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr. Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000897
Lower Court Case Nos.: 2019-CP-23-05954 & 2020-CP-23-04351

Crescent Homes SC, LLC.....Appellant,

v.

CJN, LLC.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/ F. James Warmoth
F. James Warmoth, Esquire (S.C. Bar # 101072)
warmoth@conlaw.com
John T. Crawford, Jr., (SC Bar # 69682)
crawford@conlaw.com
Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC
704 E. McBee Avenue
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 242-4899

Attorneys for Respondent CJN, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER CORRECTLY FOUND A JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY RELATING TO THE ENFORCEABILITY OF THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

Crescent initially asserts that this litigation did not present an active case for controversy and that it was not ready or ripe for resolution by the Court. Crescent maintains that since there is no "active pending sale or offer for sale," there are no issues to currently litigate relating to the right of first refusal. *Peoples Fed. Sav. and Ass'n of S.C. v Resources Planning Corp.*, 358 S.C. 460, 477, 596 S.E.2d 51, 60 (2004)("[A] case or controversy regarding the validity of a pre-emptive right does not accrue until the right has been asserted. Absent a pending sale or offer for sale, or purchase or offer to purchase, or the presence of a third party challenging right of first refusal, there is no justiciable controversy").

The Master rejected this argument at summary judgment and at trial, finding the issues were ripe and ready for resolution from multiple viewpoints. The "right has been asserted" multiple times. The dispute arose when Crescent asserted the Right by filing a lis pendens to prevent the

sale to Clark. Crescent continued to assert the Right thereafter, including with respect to the Opus sale. Without a judicial resolution, Crescent would effectively be able to indefinitely have rights relative to CJN's ability to transfer, sell or otherwise develop the lots in the Future Phase. Additionally, the right of first refusal creates ongoing uncertainty regarding the present ability of CJN to sell the Future Phase tract as a whole, as opposed to being limited to developing and selling the tract as lots only. In the latter case, even if CJN developed such lots, Crescent has no obligation to purchase them under the language of the Right. Further, there is an "active pending sale or offer for sale" as contemplated in *Peoples Fed.* under the facts and circumstances of this case, including the prior contracts with Clark and Opus, Crescent's response to those contracts including lis pendens filings, and CJN's "active offer for sale" of the property to the open market. (R. p. 14) (Order, p. 6.)

II. THE MASTER CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL CREATED AN UNREASONABLE RESTRAINT ON ALIENATION

A right of first refusal is a pre-emptive right. *Webb v. Reames*, 326 S.C. 444, 446, 485 S.E.2d 384, 385 (Ct. App. 1997). Pre-emptive rights are subject to the rule against restraint of alienation of interest in land. 61 Am Jur 2d Perpetuities and Restraints on Alienation § 110 (2002); Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes § 3.4 cmt. f (Am. L. Inst. 2000). "South Carolina law prohibits the enforcement of unreasonable restraints on alienation of real property." *Clarke v. Fine Housing, Inc.*, Op. No. 28126 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan. 4, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 26, 28) (hereafter *Clarke*), citing *Wise v. Poston*, 281 S.C. 574, 579, 316 S.E.2d 412, 415 (Ct. App. 1984). "[A]ny unreasonable limitation upon the power of alienation is against public policy and must be construed as having no force and effect." *Id.* "The question of whether a right of first refusal is enforceable turns upon whether the right unreasonably restrains alienation." *Clarke* at 28 (*emphasis in original*), citing *Wise*, 281 S.C. at 579, 316 S.E.2d at 415. "Reasonableness is

determined by weighing the utility of the restraint against the injurious consequences of enforcing the restraint.” *Clarke* at 28-29, *citing* Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes § 3.4 (Am. L. Inst. 2000). “[T]he factors to be considered in assessing whether a right of first refusal unreasonably restrains alienation include (1) the legitimacy of the purpose of the right, (2) the price at which the right may be exercised, and (3) the procedures for exercising the right.” *Clarke* at 29 (adopting Restatement factors). Under relevant facts, another factor to be considered is (4) uncertainty as to what property is encumbered by the right of first refusal. *Clarke* at 30-31.

A. Legitimacy of purpose

CJN agrees that the purpose of the Right is legitimate if it is construed as applying only to the development and sale of lots in the Future Phase. CJN disputes that the purpose of the Right is legitimate if, as Crescent maintains, it prevents CJN from selling the undeveloped the Future Phase property.

B. Price

The Right contains no price provisions at all. “Although a right of first refusal that is silent as to price might not restrain alienation to the same degree as a right of first refusal containing a fixed price, a right of first refusal should contain some method for determining the price at which it may be exercised.” *Clarke* at 32. “If the Right provided that [the right holder] could acquire the Subject Property by matching the terms of a third-party offer, the restraint on [the seller’s] power of alienation would perhaps have been minimal.” *Clarke* at 32 (internal quotations omitted). However, “[w]here a right of first refusal provides no price terms, a dispute may arise as to whether the holder of the right may purchase the property by matching a third-party offer or only after participating in a bidding war with other prospective buyers.” *Clarke* at 32.

Here, the Right lacks any specific price terms. It was unclear whether Crescent could exercise the Right by matching the price of a third-party offer. Equally important in this case, it was unclear whether Crescent must match multiple related *payment terms*, including the time for payment and closing, financing terms, the amount of earnest money, and the conditions for refund of earnest money. Under the facts of this case, the complete absence of any method for determining price strongly weighs in favor of a finding an unreasonable restraint on alienation.

C. Procedures governing the exercise of the Right

The Right contains no provisions whatsoever governing the exercise of the Right. “[W]here the . . . procedure for exercising the right is clear, and the time for exercising the right when it arises is reasonably short, its practical effect on alienation is de minimis.” *Clarke* at 33, (internal quotations omitted). However, “[a]lienation can be substantially restrained when the holder of the right has an extended time to decide whether he will purchase the property.” *Clarke* at 33 (internal quotations omitted). Further, “[l]ack of clarity” in the procedure for exercising “may cause substantial harm by making it difficult to obtain financing and exposing potential buyers to threats of litigation.” *Clarke* at 32, *quoting* Comment f to section 3.4 of the Restatement. A preemptive right which “states no time limit within which the holder must act and sets forth no procedural requirements that the holder must follow to exercise the right...permits the holder to frustrate a sale to a third party simply by stalling and then threatening litigation when a controversy develops.” *Clarke* at 33 (internal quotations omitted). “The whole point of the Restatement is to predetermine a limited time within which a right of first refusal must be exercised to protect the owner's power of alienation.” *Clarke* at 34 (emphasis added). “A judicially implied ‘reasonable time’ requirement would do little to protect the owner's power of alienation. Lengthy litigation over what is or is not a reasonable time under the facts of any given case will necessarily restrain

alienation.” *Clarke* at 34. Here, the Right contains no time limit within which Crescent must act and sets forth no procedural requirements that Crescent must follow to exercise the right. When Crescent argues that a court can simply imply a reasonable time requirement in which a right of first refusal must be exercised, it misses the point.

D. Uncertainty as to property encumbered

“[L]ack of clarity as to the real property encumbered by a right of first refusal is a factor to consider [,in appropriate factual circumstances,] in determining whether a right of first refusal is an unreasonable restraint on alienation. *Clarke* at 34. In this case, although CJN maintains that the Right plainly applies only to lots in the Future Phase, Crescent asserts rights in relation to the sale of the undeveloped Future Phase, and, in fact, used these asserted rights to prevent sales to Clark and Opus. As the Master noted,

Under the broad and open-ended language of [the Right], without a judicial resolution, Crescent would effectively be able to indefinitely have rights relative to CJN’s ability to transfer, sell or otherwise develop lots in the Future Phase. Further, [the Right] also relates to the present ability of CJN to sell the Future Phase tract as a whole or being limited to develop and sell the tract as lots only. Finally, even if CJN developed such lots, Crescent has no obligation to purchase them under the language of [the Right].

(R. p. 15) (Order, p. 7.)

The lack of clarity as to the real property encumbered contributes to the unreasonableness of the restraint on alienation.

E. No memorandum

The fact that the parties were never able to come to terms for a memorandum demonstrates that the Right lacks the “predetermined terms” necessary to avoid unreasonable restraint under the Restatement approach.

III. THE MASTER CORRECTLY DECLINED TO RULE ON THE RULE AGAINST PERPETUITIES AND THE REFORMATION PROVISIONS OF THE STATUTORY RULE AGAINST PERPETUITIES

Once the Master found that the Right was an unreasonable restraint for other reasons, it was not necessary for him to decide the rule against perpetuities (“RAP”) issue. The Right was separately unenforceable as an unreasonable restraint, regardless of whether it also violates the common law RAP. For the same reason, it was immaterial whether this separate, additional violation might be remedied by reformation under the statutory RAP.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the RAP analysis is relevant, the Right violates the common law RAP because it contains no expiration date whatsoever, as Crescent appears to acknowledge. (App. Brief, p. 22.) A right of first refusal is subject to the rule against perpetuities. *Webb v. Reames*, 326 S.C. 444, 446, 485 S.E.2d 384, 385 (Ct. App. 1997). South Carolina’s common RAP provides that a nonvested property interest is invalid unless “(1) when the interest is created, it is certain to vest or terminate no later than twenty-one years after the death of an individual then alive; or (2) the interest either vests or terminates within ninety years after its creation.” S.C.Code Ann. § 27-6-20. The Right violates the common law RAP and is invalid for that additional reason.

Moreover, the statutory reformation provision cited by Crescent does not apply to the commercial transaction at issue here. The South Carolina Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities, S.C.Code Ann. § 27-6-10 et. seq. (“SCURAP”) does not apply to “nondonative transfers”:

SECTION 27-6-50. Exceptions to rule.

Section 27-6-20 does not apply to:

(1) a nonvested property interest or a power of appointment arising out of a nondonative transfer,...

S.C.Code Ann. § 27-6-50

The transaction at issue here is a nondonative transfer. Therefore, the SCURAP, including the reformation provision therein (S.C.Code Ann. § 27-6-40), would not apply. This exclusion of nondonative transfers under the SCURAP is not expressly addressed in the relevant South Carolina cases. *See Webb*, 326 S.C. at 446, 485 S.E.2d at 385. However, *Webb* implicitly rejects application of the SCURAP because it does not apply SCURAP or its reformation provision but does expressly apply the common law rule. *Id.* The North Carolina Court of Appeals case addresses this issue in detail, applying North Carolina’s version of the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities (which is substantially similar to South Carolina’s version). *New Bar Partnership v. Martin*, 729 S.E.2d 675, 221 N.C. App. 302 (2012). The *New Bar* Court concluded the following: (1) The statutory RAP does not apply to nondonative transfers, (2) commercial transactions are nondonative transfers and the statutory RAP does not apply to them, and (3) the common law RAP does apply where the statutory RAP does not apply and therefore applies to commercial transactions. *Id.* at 683.

IV. THE MASTER CORRECTLY EVALUATED ENFORCABLITY OF THE RIGHT BASED ON ITS PLAIN LANGUAGE

A. Restrains on alienation of land are to be strictly construed based on their plain language such that extrinsic evidence of intent is irrelevant to the unreasonable restraint analysis and reformation cannot be used to cure the unreasonable restraint

The Master applied the appropriate unreasonable restraint analysis set forth in *Clarke*, which asks whether the plain language of the clause, strictly construed, unreasonably limits the owner’s ability to sell the property. If so, the clause is unenforceable. *See also Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 152, 157, 263 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1980) (applying strict construction in favor of unrestricted use of property: “A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with

all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of the property.”); *Stylecraft, Inc. v. Thomas*, 250 S.C. 495, 498, 159 S.E.2d 46, 47 (1968) (applying principle that when the granting clause in a deed conveys a fee simple title, it cannot be reduced or cut down by subsequent language in the instrument).

In contrast, the improper analysis suggested by Crescent asks whether the clause, applying standard contract interpretation principles (rather than restraint on alienation analysis), can be judicially reformed based on extrinsic evidence to make the restraint reasonable. This approach is fatally flawed because it necessarily allows right holders to freely restrain alienation by threatening litigation when a controversy develops (as Crescent did in this case). *Clarke* at 33 (A preemptive right which “states no time limit within which the holder must act and sets forth no procedural requirements that the holder must follow to exercise the right...permits the holder to frustrate a sale to a third party simply by stalling and then threatening litigation when a controversy develops.”). Crescent’s approach is simply contrary to *Clarke* and all applicable authority, and Crescent has failed to identify even a single authority applying its approach to the unreasonable restraint analysis. (See generally App. Brief, p. 12-18.) The Right is unenforceable based on its plain language, regardless of whether in other circumstances it would be subject to judicial reformation based on extrinsic evidence.

B. Even assuming standard contract interpretation principles apply, the Master properly found that the plain language of the Right was dispositive

i. The parties are sophisticated entities and agreed to be held to the plain language of the Right

It was proper to hold the parties to the plain language of the Agreement because the parties are sophisticated entities who included a clause in the Agreement stating that the written Agreement contains all of the terms and conditions agreed to between the parties and that there are no oral agreements. (R. p. 509, Paragraph 21.K)(CJN Ex. 5, Agreement Paragraph 21.K.) The

fact that Crescent failed to secure certain rights it would like to have had under the Agreement does not mean that the Agreement should be reformed. A party's failure to adequately guard its rights does not render a contract subject to reformation. *Ward v. West Oil Co., Inc.*, 379 S.C. 225, 240, 665 S.E.2d 618, 626 (Ct. App. 2008). "Parties are governed by their outward expressions and the court is not at liberty to consider their secret intentions." *Id.* at 242 (citations omitted).

ii. Even with extrinsic evidence, it was not possible to determine what additional terms the parties may have agreed to, such that extrinsic evidence is immaterial to enforceability

The Master took a wait and see approach to extrinsic evidence,³ which allowed him to hear the evidence and then determine even with that evidence it would not have been possible to reform the Right. The Master consider evidence as to: the context surrounding entry into the Agreement, performance of the Agreement, the circumstances related to the attempted sale of the Future Phase, and failed negotiations of the memorandum of the Right. (See generally R. p. 11-13) (See generally Order, p. 3-5.) Based on this, he concluded that it was not possible to determine what additional terms, if any, the parties had agreed to based on the facts of the case, much less the substance of those additional terms. (R. p. 16) (Order, p. 8.) This conclusion is a factual finding entitled to a deferential standard of review.

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